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Introduction

The puwpose of this interim report 1s  to document  all
archeplogical  research undertaken thus far at Reynolds®™ Tavern.
This report was reqguested by the Marvland Historic Trust in
respanse to proposed construction by Mr.  Faul Fearson’s Inns  of
Annapol is organizatiaon. Reynolds®™ Tavern is owned by the National
Mistorie Trust for Freservation. It is managed for them by
Historic Annapolis which has, in tuwrn, leased it ta the Inns of

Annapolis for restoration and operation.

Archeological Research at Reynolds®™ Tavern

Three phases of archeological excavation have taken place
at Reynolds®™ Tavern. in 1978, Dr. Kenneth Orr, completed 19 iy G
of Ffieldwork ultimately sxcavating 14 trenches and 3 tests." A
substantial amount of artifacts werg recovered and a report  was
produced detailing the research (Orr 1978). Copies of this
repo-t, wslides of the excavation, and the artifacts are on
depeosit  with Historic Annapolis.  The research was sponsored by
that organization.

The second phase of archeological researrch, in 1982, Wi s
again undertaken with the sponsorship of Historic Annapolis. D -
anne  Yentsch of the College of William and Mary directed
excavations supervised by Ms Susan Mira. Approximately 800 square
feet of the exposed vard swrface was excavated. Draft summaries
have bhoeen prepared by both Mira (1983) and Yentech (1383),.

A Lhird phase of archecological research 15 heing directoed by

P Richard J. Dent  of the UUniversity of Matrvl and. Some




excavations tonk place between July and Octoher of 1983 and
continued work will be undertaken as soon as obstacles (concrete
pad and brick floor) are cleared. Excavations completed to date
under  the direction of Dent cover approximately 550 square feet.
A wall has been camnpletely excavated, a larqge 1%th century privy
tested {30% samplel, and a feature of unknown function in  the
interior of the structure has also bheen excavated. These
excavations were also sponsored by Historic Annapolis. Dent will
produce  the final report on the entire Historic Annapolis

research effort at Reyvnolds®™ Tavern.
Excavation Summary

Revnolds® Tavern site (18 AF 23) is leocated on Church Circl e
in  Annapolis, Maryvland. This parcel of land is  $flanked by
Franklin Street and the Farmers National Bank. The rear of the
site abutts an access read to the bank parking lot (figure 11},
Existiné historie structures on the site include the two and one-
halt story Georgian tavern, huilt circa 1747, and a small brick
meathouwse probably built in the early 19th century (figure Z). A
modern  storage shed is alseo attached to the meathouse. These
structures are situated in a vard measwing approximately 946 feet
deep by &2 feet wide. UOF this area approximately 45 feet by &Q
¥;wt ¢ about 3,350 square feet?) were excavatable. Structures or
cancrete pavement cover the remaining ares. |

Ae mentioned before, three phases of archeological research,

all gponsored  and funded by Historic fArnapolis, have beon
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undertaken at Reynalds® Tavern. The results of these excavations
will be discussed in the following manner. First, the work of Orr
(1978) will be ocutlined. This research focused on the front, one
side, and a small portion of the rear yard of the tavern. The
excavatrions were controlled by & unigue grid system which  can
only be uwnderstood in relation to the Dbjectives of  that
particular research. Second, the excavations in the remaining
vard {research of Yentsch and Dent) will be grouped for the
canvenience of discussion. A common grid system was employed faor
these excavations and both were undertaken with similar rasearch
goals.
To begin, Orr {1978) states three research goals:

1} to define evidence of grade line acrass front elevation,
placement af front cellar windows and possible entrance and
bulkhead complexes, porch floors and stoops, and old
pavementss

) detine cellar entrance at Franklin Street end of Laverns

X)) excavate test pits in tavern yard to assess the need for
further excavations.

Approximately 450 square feet of soil matrix  were processed
within the test units illustrated on Ffigure 3. Over 1700
artifacts were recovered from some 13 cultural strata  and  ten
features. The report produced by Qrr (1978) more then adequately
details this research. The pressnt report will mmhcen£rate an
summarizing this research. )

The resegrch goals mutlined above dictated test units in
three areas of the site - under the existing sidewalk in  the

front of the tavern, under the existing sidewalk at the Fraoklin

Qtroet side of the tavern, and in the roar vard, There The e




areas will be diccussed in turn. Again, these data are drawn from
Orr (1978).

Excavations at the fromt of the tavern indicate that the
present  porch was not original to the structwe. Architectural
documentation supports this conclusion (Historic Sites Report
1978y, The Ffirst porch or stoop was a low square platform with
brick sides containing an garthen core and probably A waooden
deck. A short set of risers, probably alsaso of wood, carried a
person enterimng the house to the level of the {frant door.

Sometime early in the 1%9th century., moditications were made
to the original stoop. Scil matrix was added to raise the {floor
level and a zecond brick course was added to the stoop walls. Two
courses of brick were provided as a step bease to the door  level
and the Fromt of the porch was extended with a brick step  slso
probably provided for mounting the plat{form,. The present canopy
was also added.

Later in the 20 th century a last phase of poroh
modification was evident. The porch deck was raised until 1t was
flush with the door threshold. Sidewalls were again raised and
two  concrete steps were constructed for mounting the porch. The
canopy was ratsed to compensate for these modifications.

. In addition to deciphering the evolution of the porch &t
Reyvnolds®  Tavern, Oy {(1978) also detected the presence of a
gutier system which once ran along the front of the house. This
featwre consisted of a trench containing oyster shell, a thin
sand lens covering the shell, and =& hrick cap. Artifacts within
the shell indicate this feature was probably ariginal  to  the

tavern., The standard explanation tor such featuwres 1s Lhat Lhoy




calcity water thus protecting fhe mor-tar of the foundation walls
below.

Other tests determined that the cellar windows once extended
one foot below their present base. Their original base also marks
the 19th century grade. This land swiace appears to have been
covered by brick and sloped 10-135 degrees to the southwest.

Testing on the Franklin Street side of the tavern (figure 3
revealed a bricked—-in bulkhead entrance. Although remains Were
sparse, there was some evidence of & brick floor and possibly
waoden steps. Thiz entrance would have allowed access to the
cellar of the structure from the street. The entry appears to
have been original to the huilding.

Excavations by e (1978) in the rear yard consisted ot
three tests — one along the front of the meathouse, amath@r ey
the side of the meathouse, and a third between the tavern and the
meathouse {(figuwre 3. Test 1 located traces of a kitchen midden
hetween the tavern and meathousea. This midden appears to have
been made up of lenses of sheet refuse periodically covered with
cand. Artifacts +rom .the builder’s trench of the mssathouse
indicate the structure dates ta the early 19th century. Test 2
revealed little other then the original land suwface. Test 3,

however, located an.;ﬁ sitw cobblestone roadway. A single sherd
af creamware partially under one of the ngb}Eﬁ suggested to  Orr
(1978) that the road was associated with the early years of the
tavearn.

In corclusion, Orr's (1278) excavations rovealed much shout

the house and esarly features associated with ite constvuction and
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LS. Many of hise conclusions were reinforced by Tater
excavations. Orr should also be commended tor completing this
testing without extensively distwbing the archeological record
af Reyvnolds®™ Tavern.

The overall intent of the 1982 and 1983 escavations,
undertaken by Yentsch and Dent respectively, was to  understand
the wse of space in the vard that remains {locate associalted
structures, middens, welles, ete.) and to recover samples of the
material culture and other remains asscociated with activitie§ in
and around the tavern. Another goal was to mitigate the affects
of proposed cansteruction on the archeological record of Reynolds®
Tavearn.

While the research geals of Yentsch and Dent were similar,
alight differences risted in excavation asetheods. For  both
excavations control was maintained via s grid, with S5 » 5 {foot
cells, aligned toward a permanent datum (figure 4), This datum
also served as an elevation reference point. Yentsch also
gmploved a variety of trenches to fuwrther test the vard.

In all cases, test wnits were excavated in stratigraphic
layvars., These layers could elither be natwal selil horizons or

culluwral episodes. Featuwes were treated separately. Flan views

and profiles were produced and a photeographic record was
maintained. Dit+erences do exist  between  the method ot

note keeping employed in the 19282 versus 1983 excavations. In
1782 written descriptiorns were produced to document the research.
For the 1983 seasaon, forms were created for this  task. 31}
artifacts have been washed and 1abeled. Ttems in  need of

consaervation were  treated  and more detailed analysis of all




artifacts is now under way.

Combining the 1982 anb 1983 excavations, 45 cells (545 feel)
of the grid were excavated and 14 half-units were also tested -
approximately 1350 sguare fest. Figqure 4 also illustrates the
units completed thus far. Exposed yvard surface includes roughly
3,350 square  feet. In all, 40% of this surface was excavated
between 1782 and 1983, The remainder of this section of the
report  will  document these excavations. This discussion will
start with units near the tavern and proceed toward the back of
the vard.

Three units (MO ES, MO Ei10, 55 E1d) were excavted near the
existing back porch of the tavern. Generally speaking, moderate
amounts  of sheet refuse, probably tssued from the nearby window
{now a jib door to the back porch), were recovered 1 these
units. Most af the artifacts date to the late 18thfearly  19th
centuwries. A pad of rough fiesldatones and brick drain te  divert
water away from the tavern were also excavated. Evidence suggests
this drain structure dates to the beginning of the 19th century.
One  suggestion  is that this drain helped to divert water awWay
from the nearby cellar entrance excavated by Qre éi??B).

Units S5 WE, NO W3, NI WS, and NS WIQ were excavated in
1983, There was extensive disturbance in this area from ubility
lines. Again, however, substantial deposits of sheet refuse
indicate this area also received deposits via the nearby window.
Artifact assemblages aate these deposits from the mid-i8th to
S0th centuries. Specific early notable types iaclude tin—aglared

earthaenwarsa, white salt-alared stonoware, L CATNAar e paar lwar o,
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etc.

Moving away {from the tavern, units 55 W20, NO WLG, and Nio
W20, were rather random in the information they yielded. 8% W20
contained an oyster shell laver with tin—aglzed earthenware and
18th century hottle glass akove and tin-glazed earthenware, early
stoneware, pipe stems, and bone below. A coin dated 1739 was alsa
recovered below the =zhell lens. These artifacts would date the
refuse deposit te the early vears aof the tavern. The other two
units, contained similar material but in low quantities and not
in discrete deposits.

The next group of units excavated was roughly in the center
af the yvard. This includes units NS W3G, NS W45, NI1CO W4AE, NI1O W
40, NI W 40, and NI1& W4G., The most significant finding in this
aroup  of units was a dense mortar laver {(thickness varies {rom
1.5 to 3 inches). Artifacts above and below this featuwe date 1t
to circa 1726G-1730. It may therefore predate the tavern or
accomnpany its construction. Ne wood impressions {(such as lathing
markae) are evident and distinct grooves were proesent. The mortar
is of an oyster and lime variety. In short, it is hard to assign
any particular function to this pavement other than to say it
might have been associated with & temporary structure of some
sort. However, no post molds, concentrations of nails, etoc. can
be noted.

Units 8515 W35 and S15 W3O, located along the Franklin Street
fence, contained little of interest. For the most part these
units contained a random mix of 18th, 19¢h, and 20th  century
artifacts. The area containing these units was evidently part of

a varden constructed by the library.




Unites NIO W45, NIS W4AS, N3G W40, NIO W4AQ, NEE W40, NIO WIE,
N3Z W3S, N2ZE& W35S, N25 WI0, 28 W30, and NZ0O WIO were excavated to
reveal the cobblestone roadway. This roadway had originally been
digscovered by Orr (1%78). In short, the roadway once ran from the
central rear door of the tavern {(now part of the 1906 addition)
toward the meathouse. It then appears on the other of the
meathouse  and  appears fto be heading toward the west. The
meathouse, an early 19th century structure, was placed through
the roadway. This cobble roadway is distinctly laid with &
central drain and borders. It flares toward the rear of the
tavern with more roughly laid stones. Fill on top of the roacway
includes creamware and pearlware, Thise should date the feature
itseld to the varlier yvears of the tavern. Qrr {(1978) felt it was
related to Revnolds® iivery stable. An alternative hypothesis may

be that’ the roadway linked the tavern to West Street, a main

artery to the citv.

Moving toward the tavern, units N25 W25, N3I5 W25, N4O WS,
NAQ W 20, N3S W20, N3O W20, N2G W20, NZO W20, N4O WIS, NZ5 W20,

N3O WIS, and N2S WIS are centered around a deep stone-lined well.
Artifact deposits and faunal material date from a variety of
periods, but much of the material is assignable to the 18th  and
early 1%th century. Again, this seems to be sheet refuse and
primary raefuse deposits spread or dumped into the area.

The well, excavated to a depth of 40 feet, seems to  have
heen filled at a single point in  time. Preliminar? evidence
indicates this event may be linked to the construction of  the

1903 addition. One interesting artifact doposited in the  well
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till was a 17 foot wooden water pipe. A& similar obrjiect  was
observed 1in the City of London Museum. Imn Europe such water
delivery systems were common in the 17th century. Such pipes were
still in use in this country into the 12th century.

Behind the meathouse and storage shed number of units were
also excavated. This area incluades units N&O W7S, NSS W75, NSO
W%, N&Q W70, NES W70, NED WS, N6O WaST, NSH WaS, NSO Watr, N&O
Wad, SO WaG, NSO WeE, N&O W0, NES WaD, NSO Ws0, N&O WSS, NESS
W30, N30 W3S, NeD WSS, and NS5 WS0. A large privy, dating to the
mid-19th century was dissected with a S0% sample excavated. Ag
mentioned before, the cobblestone roadway also appears on thiis
side of the meathouse. A large and very significant piridiary
refuse deposit was also excavated. Altheouwgh & good portion of
this feature was destroved by utility Jines, excellent  faunal
remains and artitact deposits were encountered. Artifacts in the
deposit date it to tine mid-18th centuwry.

Last, & large feature was excavated from within the interior
ot the tavern. This feature, in the room which once contained
~eynolds®  hat shop is subterranean and was built over a barrel
arch. Evidence suggests the feature’s storage caompartment  was
once  lined with wood. Access to the storage compartment  would
have been through floor level trap doors. A current hypothesis
suggests  this featwe was emploved to store pelts and supplies,
for Reynolds®™ hat making business, in a ceel and dry environment.
Stratigraphy around the feature suggests it was original tao the
tavern or was huilt soon after its construction. More Pesearch,
an function and construction techiques remains to be done on this

pwmportant featuwre.,




Recommendations
Immediate plans for construction include the propoased
underpinning of the tavern and excavation of the anderground
Litchen below and out form the 19046 addition. It is suwggested
that thie work be allowed to start without delay. This
recommendation iz bazed on the following conclusions and
gualificatiaons:
1) A 40% sample of artifact deposits has been completed
in the exposed yard area. This seems to he a reasanable
sample for this type of site.
) Monitoring, however, should be allowed on the one side
of the 1304 addition where no testing was possible

due to a concrete apron.

3 The well, which will be partially destroved, should be
rapped and filled to preserve what remains.

4) The feature in the basement should be covered to prevent
damage.

=) No construction should be allowed near  the cobblestone
raoad. This area should be filled to prevent damasge.

&1 The central hallway in the basement interior must he
removed and adeguate time given over to archeological
testing.-

7) The ceoncrete pad in front of the storage shed should

he removed and archenlogists must excavate
hefaore any construction takes place in that area.
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